MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING

of the

BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM

UW-Milwaukee Held in the Union, Wisconsin Room Friday, June 6, 2003 9:00 a.m.

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 1		
REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT OF THE BOARD	1	
RESOLUTION OF APPRECIATION: REGENT EMERITUS JOANNE BRANDES Resolution of Appreciation: JoAnne Brandes REPORT ON THE MAY 21 ST MEETING OF THE WISCONSIN TECHNICAL COLLEGE SYSTEM BOARD REPORT ON THE JUNE 4 TH MEETING OF THE HOSPITAL AUTHORITY BOARD		
REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT OF THE SYSTEM	4	
APPRECIATION TO UW-MILWAUKEE VICE CHANCELLOR DON MELKUS THE MILWAUKEE IDEA: NOW MORE THAN EVER GRADUATION ECONOMIC SUMMIT IV UPDATE ON FALL 2003 ENROLLMENTS GOOD NEWS Summit on Criminal Justice at UW-Oshkosh New MBA Extended to Waukesha Chancellor Keating, Vice Chair of NCAA Presidents' Council Extension Helps Families Get Health Insurance Coverage Chancellor Miller Gets leadership Awards An Opportunity to Help Students		
REPORT OF THE EDUCATION COMMITTEE	12	
REPORT OF THE SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT FOR ACADEMIC AFFAIRS Presentation by UW-Milwaukee on the Black and Gold Commission REPORT OF EDUCATION COMMITTEE WORKS AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS DEFINING QUALITY	<i>12</i> 12	
Implementation of the Excess Credit Policy Report on Remedial Education Report on Promotions, Tenure Designations, and Related Academic Approval Items	13 13	
PK-16 Partnerships and Initiatives	<i>14</i> 14	

REPORT OF THE PHYSICAL PLANNING AND FUNDING COMMITTEE	15
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT VICE PRESIDENT	15
UW-River Falls: Authority to Increase the Scope and Budget of the Child Care Center Project	
REPORT OF THE BUSINESS AND FINANCE COMMITTEE	16
2003-05 Unclassified Pay Plan Recommendation	16
2003-05 Unclassified Pay Plan Recommendation (Modified)	17
REPORT OF THE VICE PRESIDENT	17
Legislative Audit Bureau	17
LAB ADMINISTRATIVE AUDIT UPDATE	17
UW-La Crosse: Differential Tuition for Academic Excellence Initiatives	
UW-Superior: Differential Tuition for Library Initiatives	
ADDITIONAL RESOLUTIONS	19
Resolution of Appreciation: UW-Milwaukee	
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS RESEARCH INSTITUTE, UW-MADISON	20
UW-Madison: Industrial Relations Research Institute Exemption	
ELECTION OF OFFICERS OF THE BOARD OF REGENTS	23
CLOSED SESSION	24
Request for Review of UW-Extension Decision	

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING

of the

BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM

UW-Milwaukee Held in the Union, Wisconsin Room Friday, June 6, 2003 9:00 a.m.

- President Gottschalk presiding -

PRESENT:	Regents Amato, Axtell, Connolly-Keesler, Bradley, Burmaster, Davis,
	Gottschalk, Gracz, Marcovich, Mohs, Olivieri, Randall, Richlen,
	Rosenzweig, Salas, Smith and Walsh

ABSENT: None

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES

The minutes of the May 8th and 9th meetings stood approved as distributed.

- - -

- - -

REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT OF THE BOARD

Resolution of Appreciation: Regent Emeritus JoAnne Brandes

Presenting the following resolution of appreciation for Regent Emeritus JoAnne Brandes, Regent Marcovich noted that she was his good friend and mentor throughout his tenure on the board. The resolution was adopted by acclamation with a standing ovation.

Resolution of Appreciation: JoAnne Brandes

Resolution 8697: WHEREAS, JoAnne Brandes has served the citizens of Wisconsin with continuous commitment and skilled stewardship during her term as a member of the University of Wisconsin System Board of Regents; and

> WHEREAS, through her visionary guidance as chair and member of the Education Committee and 21st Century Subcommittee, she has helped shape the future of teaching and learning for generations of UW students; and

> WHEREAS, she has served as chair and member of the Academic Staff Awards for Excellence Committee, leading the board's recognition of academic staff members who exhibit institutional loyalty, professionalism and devotion in serving students and the public; and

WHEREAS, she has contributed sound judgment and fiscal leadership experience as vice chair and member of the Business and Finance Committee and Audit Subcommittee, and as a member of the Executive and Personnel Matters Review Committees; and

WHEREAS, she has helped guide the direction of several UW institutions through her service on special chancellor search committees for UW-Madison, UW-Oshkosh, UW-Eau Claire and UW-Parkside, as well as a search committee for a UW-Madison Law School Dean; and

WHEREAS, Regent Brandes has brought considerable experience and global perspective to the board through her work as senior vice president, general counsel and secretary for Wisconsin-based JohnsonDiversey, and is a friend to the UW and the state, having graduated from UW-Eau Claire, and having served as a member of the Governor's Commission on the Glass Ceiling, and the chair of the Wisconsin Child Care Council; and WHEREAS, in the spirit of the Wisconsin Idea, she has devoted her time, energy and valued leadership toward improving the experience of UW students and the betterment of Wisconsin communities;

BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, that the Board of Regents of the University of Wisconsin System commends Regent Emeritus JoAnne Brandes for her remarkable tenure and distinguished service to the citizens of Wisconsin and the institutions of the UW System.

Regent Emeritus Brandes recalled that her involvement with the UW System began with her attendance at and graduation from UW-Eau Claire. While a student, she served as a representative to the UW/WSU Merger Implementation Committee and helped to draft the shared governance language set forth in Chapter 36, *Wis. Stats.*

Stating that it has been an honor and privilege to serve on the Board of Regents, she expressed great pride in UW's rich tradition of excellence and the outstanding people who continually grow that excellence, even during these very challenging economic times.

In that regard, she stated her utmost respect for the chancellors and the great leadership and talent they have brought to Wisconsin. She thanked system staff for their unselfish dedication, wisdom and humor and thanked board staff for their competent and gracious assistance over the years.

Expressing appreciation to President Lyall for her outstanding leadership, she noted that the UW is very fortunate to have her at the helm.

She remarked that all of her fellow regents have enriched her life and expressed appreciation for their unselfish dedication of their time and unique talents to public service on the board. In that regard, she expressed gratitude to Regent Smith for his great leadership through very difficult times, and she thanked Regent Mohs for the honesty and respectfulness that he always brought to their debates. She expressed appreciation for Regent Burmaster's friendship and thanked Regents Axtell, Olivieri, Randall, Gottschalk, and Gracz for the pleasure of working and strategizing with them. Finally, she thanked Regent Marcovich for his special friendship and for the creativity and harmony with which they worked together, even though they were very different from each other in many ways.

In conclusion, Regent Emeritus Brandes said that she will always remain one of the UW's strongest supporters and advocates, and she wished the regents success in continuing to lead the great University of Wisconsin System.

3

<u>Report on the May 21st Meeting of the Wisconsin Technical College System</u> <u>Board</u>

The board received a written report on the May 21st meeting of the Wisconsin Technical College System Board.

_

- - -

Report on the June 4th Meeting of the Hospital Authority Board

The board received a written report on the June 4th meeting of the Hospital Authority Board.

REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT OF THE SYSTEM

Appreciation to UW-Milwaukee Vice Chancellor Don Melkus

Chancellor Zimpher expressed appreciation to Vice Chancellor Melkus, who was retiring after 33 years of dedicated service to the UW System and UW-Milwaukee. She also thanked him for overseeing all Board of Regents visits to UW-Milwaukee during her five-year tenure as chancellor.

The Milwaukee Idea: Now More Than Ever

Chancellor Zimpher introduced Professor Steve Percy, the chancellor's deputy for the Milwaukee Idea and director of the Center for Urban Initiatives and Research. Presenting an update on the Milwaukee Idea, Dr. Percy recalled that UWM embarked on what came to be the Milwaukee Idea in 1998, in an exciting initiative to strengthen the university and to help the community in facing challenges in such areas as educational performance of school children and a diminishing industrial base in the region.

Noting the state's long tradition of outreach through the concept of the Wisconsin Idea, he observed that the Milwaukee Idea, with its commitment to serve Milwaukee and southeastern Wisconsin, is the right way to meet societal and state expectations that the university be relevant and connected to its communities.

The origins of the Milwaukee idea were in an ambitious process in which 200 campus and community people were asked to identify areas of collaboration that would strengthen the community and the university. Key guidelines were that ideas must be bold; must move the university forward with large steps; must embrace the expertise of faculty and students across traditional academic disciplines; and must reflect community engagement in planning, implementation and evaluation.

The Milwaukee Idea is composed of three board areas of action: 1) Education and the Arts; 2) Economic Development; 3) Environment and Health. Included in the first area are initiatives that range from training teachers to be effective in urban schools, to preparing people to live and work successfully in a global world, to training young people in information technology, to operating creative partnerships in the arts.

To promote economic development, UWM is supporting creation of new small businesses, undertaking research on changing economic conditions, providing non-profit leaders with skills to manage their agencies effectively, supporting innovation in industry and encouraging technology transfer.

In the area of environment and health, the university is promoting healthy living, expanding understanding of environmental pollution and remediation, advancing knowledge about preservation of fresh water resources and creating architectural designs and plans that will help to shape the future urban environment.

As a result of the Milwaukee Idea, Dr. Percy observed, not only is UWM invited to be at the table when key Milwaukee leaders meet, the university now has opportunities to help set the table by acting as a lead convener in initiatives to improve Milwaukee. An important example, he indicated, is the Milwaukee Partnership Academy through which the university has joined with city, state, and schools in a commitment to bring all public school students to grade level or better in reading, writing and math.

Dr, Percy indicated that the Milwaukee Idea has opened the door to new ideas about educational programs for the 21st Century, such as a path-breaking global studies undergraduate degree program and programs in non-profit management. With its focus on community connections, the Milwaukee Idea affords new opportunities for service learning, internships and experiential learning in partnership with community organizations.

Noting that the Milwaukee Idea has generated national attention, Dr. Percy announced that the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development has commissioned a case study of its work as a model for other universities. In addition, a major publisher has published a volume on the first phase of the Milwaukee Idea.

Further, he continued, the Milwaukee Idea has expanded access to financial resources from local foundations that have contributed millions of dollars to Milwaukee Idea initiatives. The university also is becoming much more competitive in obtaining federal grants and contracts.

Concluding his remarks. Dr. Percy noted that the Milwaukee idea is not an addon, nor is it about becoming a social service agency. Rather, it is a commitment to sustain community engagement that strengthens the core research and teaching missions of the university. To provide an example of the Milwaukee Idea in practice, he introduced Professor Allen Zweben, director of the Center for Addiction and Behavioral Health Research, which is the home base for the Healthy Choices initiative. Beginning his remarks, Professor Zweben indicated that the center was started in 1991 after UWM was awarded two major NIH grants, one in conjunction with Marquette University, focusing on prevention and treatment of substance use problems. To support their research efforts, the two universities formed partnerships with a number of health care organizations, with the present consortium involving Aurora Health Care and Rogers Memorial Hospital.

The overall mission is to guide health care decisions. Specific goals include interdisciplinary research in mental health and substance abuse and education of community providers in the etiology, prevention and treatment of mental health and substance abuse problems.

In addition to federal grants, support comes from contributions by consortium members, private contributions, and state and county contracts. Current projects deal with development of assessment and tracking techniques for treatment and research, pharmacologic trials, HIV prevention studies, mentoring projects and development of innovative behavioral treatments.

The Healthy Choices Initiative, he continued, has allowed the center to expand community partnerships and enhance contributions to the community. Faculty and staff have applied their expertise to such issues as partner violence, reduction of student drinking, and screening and intervention in primary care and managed care settings. State and local providers have been educated in state-of-the-art screening, diagnostic and intervention methodologies, and new prevention efforts have been conducted on campus.

Projects have included public school-based alcohol, tobacco and other drug programs, a social norms marketing project to reduce drinking on campus, an undergraduate curriculum on alcohol and drug issues, as well as other health concerns. Partnerships have made it possible to reach underserved populations, such as the homeless and individuals at risk for HIV, and to achieve positive recognition in the Milwaukee community.

Success in recruitment of subjects, along with high quality scientific work, has given the program wide recognition in the addiction field and has been instrumental in bringing new federal dollars to the state. Federal grants have been received for a \$2 million project to match different alcohol treatments with various subsets of patient groups and for another \$2 million study to test the efficacy of combining mediation and psychotherapy in treating alcohol problems. The latter study is being conducted at other sites as well, including Harvard University, Yale University, the University of Washington, Brown University, and the University of New Mexico. It has received international and national recognition and is expected to have an important impact on alcoholism treatment in years to come.

Another major project called "Heart-to-Heart", is a \$3.3 million study supported by the National Institutes of Health, involving UWM and the Milwaukee Women's Center. The study deals with women seeking help for alcohol problems who also are atrisk for HIV infection and is the only study of its kind being conducted in the country. This study grew out of other collaborative efforts with the center, including a study addressing the treatment needs of cocaine-addicted women, a project on violence against women, and an evaluation project on temporary assistance to needy families.

Professor Zweben introduced Carey Tradewell Monreal, CEO of the Milwaukee Women's Center, who had worked closely with UWM over the years and was active in developing the Heart-to-Heart study.

Stating that the project is bold and exciting Ms. Monreal credited all the partners from the Women's Center and UWM who helped in formulating this initiative to serve high-risk women, and predicted that the study will be nationally replicated upon completion. Noting that she has been involved with the Milwaukee Idea since its inception, she thanked Chancellor Zimpher, Dr. Percy and others for expressing the Idea through such projects as "Heart-to-Heart".

Chancellor Zimpher identified the following benchmarks that have guided her activities over the past five years:

- 1. Help make UW-Milwaukee a presence in the community. This has been done through fostering the Milwaukee Idea, strongly linking the university to metropolitan Milwaukee.
- 2. Enable better linkages with elementary and secondary education. In that regard, the chancellor indicated that UW-Milwaukee has one of the most substantial PK-16 partnerships in the nation. The Milwaukee Partnership Academy, formed to help close the student achievement gap and prepare high quality teachers, has been allocated more federal dollars than any partnership of its kind in the nation.
- 3. Provide for an enhanced development function. The former director of development for the Milwaukee Art Museum, Lucia Petrie, was hired after completing a \$100 million capital campaign. Further, investment policies have been reframed and only paying members are being recruited to the foundation board. More than two million dollars in venture funds have been attracted to underwrite the upcoming capital campaign.
- 4. Generate more support for graduate education. UWM has realized a 67% growth in federal dollars since 1999, showing the ability to support its graduate program array. In addition, there have been 52 invention disclosures and 29 patent applications through WiSys.
- 5. Build strategic alliances with other higher education institutions. TechStar aligns UWM with Marquette, Milwaukee School of Engineering, the Medical College of Wisconsin and UW-Parkside in a powerful public/private partnership in technology transfer. Another important alliance is the College Connection through which UWM offers bachelor's degrees on nine UW College campuses and three technical colleges, with 300 students and 54 graduates to date.
- 6. Ensure more high quality programs. UWM has expanded its Honors Program to build an academy of scholars and has made a strong commitment to teaching and learning through the Carnegie Initiative and the Black and Gold Commission on the Student Experience.

The university's 6-year investment plan, adopted in 2000, ensures that resources to fund these initiatives are available.

Looking to the future, Chancellor Zimpher presented several ideas that she identified as her own thoughts, although triggered by conversations with deans, students, faculty and staff. They are intended to lay the groundwork for a more comprehensive plan to be delivered by December.

She indicated that UWM has chosen four peers against whom to benchmark future progress: the University of Pittsburg, the University of Illinois-Chicago, the University of Cincinnati and Virginia Commonwealth University. Each of these universities has a strong doctoral array averaging 51 programs, while UWM has 19. Each has more than 10 graduate programs in the top 20 rankings of *US News and World Report*, while UWM has four - - Architecture, Film, Library Science, and Occupational Therapy. Each has more students, averaging 30,000, while UWM is scheduled to reach that enrollment level in 2006. Finally, each has strong athletic programs; and UWM is on the way in this area.

With its strong campus-wide commitment to community engagement, access to statewide linkages, and extensive institutional partnerships, the Chancellor stated, the Milwaukee Idea has readied UWM to set its sights on matching or exceeding the nation's highest achieving public urban research institutions.

Noting that reaching such a vision will be a stretch for everyone involved, Chancellor Zimpher offered five goals to help shape rethinking about UWM and the UW System.

Stretch Goal I: If you build it, they will come. Moving toward an enrollment target of 30,000 students, the chancellor indicated that applications are up 21% from last year and 55% over the past five years. While the university's top 30 feeder high schools are in Metropolitan Milwaukee, there are growing numbers of applicants from across Wisconsin and the Midwest. Many students want to live in dorms, but there is a shortage of housing. The Columbia Hospital conversion to 450 residence rooms could extend to 2009, and Kenilworth's graduate student housing will not be available until 2005. The stretch goal, therefore, is increased residential housing – soon, possibly located along Oakland Avenue or Capitol Drive. Both locales also could dramatically reduce housing demands in the already overcrowded neighborhoods adjacent to the university.

Stretch Goal 2: Bulking up. As a 21st Century urban public research university, the Chancellor indicated, the goal is to move at least 20 graduate programs into the top 20 rankings by 2020. To reach that goal, the process is to prioritize programs that are designated for growth; add a degree or cross-disciplinarity; and allocate positions to programmatic priorities. UWM's Bulking-Up Plan, she explained, builds on the university's most recent program array review, the academic roadmap presented in the 2000 investment plan, the university's self-study for North Central accreditation, and the confluence of interdisciplinary First Ideas of the Milwaukee Idea. The intent is to focus resources on the 3Es: Education and the Arts, Economic Development, and Environment and Health. To find the necessary resources, the university will seek more endowed professorships, more capacity to reallocate funds to laboratory start-up costs, more cluster hires, and more funding for the Milwaukee Idea from the state.

Stretch Goal 3: TechStar Valley: The Chancellor indicated that UW-Milwaukee wants to be part of a rebirth of the Menomonee River Valley as a future home to sustainable redevelopment, including entrepreneurial companies producing jobs with family-supporting wages. The Valley, she observed would be an ideal location for expansion or engineering and applied science programs, and the university can be a major innovation engine to revitalize and reinvent manufacturing and lead technological advances. While the details may shift and some other site might turn out to be better suited, the intent is to move into a major capital initiative to give TechStar the incubator focus that has been missing.

Stretch Goal 4: UrbanSphere. Drawing an analogy to Columbia University's Biosphere research facility, dedicated to studying global environmental and climate change, Chancellor Zimpher explained that UWM is doing something similar by applying scientific expertise to the studies of the human condition as it exists in the city. This mission is all the more important, she noted, since projections are that 75% of the world's population will reside in cities by 2025.

Stretch Goal 5: one major disruptive innovation. Referring to an article in the *Harvard Business Review*, Chancellor Zimpher indicated that the author and his colleagues argue that the current health care model is built around sophisticated health care needs that most people don't have, provided by the most expensive experts and equipment. By delivering more health care less expensively and conveniently by clinical health professionals, such as nurses, in community settings, instead of focusing so much on physicians and hospitals, health care costs could be cut, while making care more accessible to more people. In that regard, she suggested that the university could help to create the impetus to shift all but the most serious care from hospitals to community and neighborhood health care centers, where allied health professionals can provide services where people live. Such an innovative approach, she remarked, would build on the university's strengths in allied health fields, position it will for future federal funding, and allow the university to take a leadership role in advancing an agenda with far-reaching public health implications.

In conclusion, the Chancellor stated that now, more than ever, the values of the Milwaukee Idea can help UWM become a leader among peers and the economic, social and academic driver for the region's future.

Graduation

President Lyall reported that this year UW campuses awarded more than 29,000 degrees to graduates, noting that this infusion of highly educated people into the state's workforce is a reminder of how important public education is to Wisconsin's economic future. More than 80% of these graduates, she pointed out, will stay in Wisconsin to work, raise families and become productive taxpaying citizens – a real brain gain for the state.

Of the graduates, three-quarters earned bachelor's degrees, while the rest completed master's, Ph.D. or professional degrees. UW campuses graduate two out of every three new K-12 teachers in the state and 90% of the pharmacists, in addition to many nurses.

While the UW contributes in many ways to the state's economy, she observed that the most important contribution is the benefit of providing this large number of skilled workers for Wisconsin's job market.

Economic Summit IV

President Lyall reported that the UW will be sponsoring Economic Summit IV on October 27th and 28th at the Midwest Express Center in Milwaukee. The summit will be co-sponsored by the Robert W. Baird Company and its board chairman, Fred Kasten, with other sponsors including the *Milwaukee Journal-Sentinel* and the Bradley Foundation. Expressing appreciation for these sponsorships, she also recognized Regent Smith who initiated the economic summits that have become a valuable part of the Wisconsin Idea.

Update on Fall 2003 Enrollments

With regard to fall enrollments, President Lyall noted that the overall target enrollment is 135,450 FTE students, which is the same as last year despite the net reduction of \$100 million in base support and loss of 650 faculty and staff under the planned budget cuts. Noting that the consequences of these cuts will be felt in and outside of the classroom, she asked for patience by students and others as the university does the best it can to manage the coming reductions.

Good News

Summit on Criminal Justice at UW-Oshkosh

President Lyall thanked Chancellor Wells and UW-Oshkosh for hosting a successful summit on criminal justice. Three hundred participants attended, including the Attorney General, the Lieutenant Governor and many community justice professionals from around the state. The conference provided an excellent forum to explore alternatives to incarceration, which is the most expensive means of dealing with criminal problems.

10

_

New MBA Extended to Waukesha

It was reported by President Lyall that the UW-Milwaukee School of Business will begin to offer it MBA degree at UW-Waukesha this fall. The program has been streamlined so that working adults will be able to get their degree in 16 months of concentrated coursework. She thanked Chancellors Zimpher and Messner for extending this degree opportunity to the fast-growing Waukesha market and for stretching resources as efficiently as possible.

_

Chancellor Keating, Vice Chair of NCAA Presidents' Council

President Lyall congratulated UW-Parkside Chancellor Jack Keating on his election as vice chair of the NCAA Division II President's Council.

Extension Helps Families Get Health Insurance Coverage

It was reported by President Lyall that UW-Extension will serve as the lead agency for a \$900,000 grant from the Robert Wood Foundation to help educate Wisconsin families on how to enroll for health care coverage through Medicare and Badgercare and to simplify the process for Wisconsin's 70,000 uninsured low-income children.

Chancellor Miller Gets leadership Awards

President Lyall congratulated UW-Whitewater Chancellor Jack Miller on being named chair of the Board of Governors of the Renaissance Group – a national consortium of 36 universities committed to improvement in teacher education. One of every ten teachers in the country, she noted, is educated at one of those 36 institutions.

An Opportunity to Help Students

It was reported by President Lyall that interest rates on federal student loans will be at the lowest level ever for next fall. New student loans will carry a 2.2% interest rate, and those who already have student loans can refinance them at 3.2%.

Noting that the proposed biennial budget would divert \$26 million of auxiliary balances to financial aid for students, she indicated that at today's state borrowing rate of about 4%, the state could borrow the \$26 million for an annual interest charge of about \$1 million with students repaying the principle over time. The \$1 million interest would

support more than 5,000 Wisconsin students each year, 80% of whom would stay in the state to live and work. Over their careers, they would earn more than \$3 billion and return many times the million dollars in taxes paid. She expressed the hope that the Legislature would see if there is a way to exploit these low interest rates to help students.

- - -

REPORT OF THE EDUCATION COMMITTEE

Regent Mohs, Chair, presented the report of the Education Committee.

Report of the Senior Vice President for Academic Affairs

Senior Vice President Cora Marrett's report focused on education that is excellent, accessible and inclusive.

_

Presentation by UW-Milwaukee on the Black and Gold Commission

VP Marrett introduced Chancellor Zimpher who then introduced student members of the Black and Gold Commission which is composed of an equal number of students, faculty and staff. The group was formed to develop and implement recommendations on how to provide the best quality education for UW-Milwaukee students. Involved in college-wide activities, students spoke about working to enhance student input into teaching in the Schools of Nursing, Architecture and Urban Planning and Business. Institution-wide activities include the development of a Student Success Center which will provide an on-line student information and advising website.

Report of Education Committee Works and Accomplishments

Reviewing the committee's works and accomplishments for the year, Ms. Marrett noted two proposals made a year ago: 1) a partnership between the Office of the Senior Vice President and the Board of Regents, in particular the Education Committee; and 2) a study of quality – its meaning and its measure. The committee worked in the areas of program planning and review, integration of technology into teaching and learning, and efforts to infuse multicultural teaching and learning into the curriculum.

Defining Quality

Associate Vice Presidents Ron Singer and Frank Goldberg reported on defining quality. Reviewing a quality matrix, they determined that the complexity of defining quality was linked to different stakeholders who hold the UW System as accountable in different ways and who have different ideas about what quality is.

In preliminary findings of data compiled from focus groups around the state, Dr. Flynn-Saulnier stated that although the study was not intended to be a scientific study, certain areas of quality emerged from the study such as mission, access, faculty, teaching, climate, and diversity. Dr. Flynn-Saulnier recommended the following ways to improve quality:

- Home institution-specific missions;
- Improve the balance of faculty contribution among teaching, research and service;
- Make more dramatic inroads towards increasing diversity;
- Provide supportive environments in and out of the classroom; and
- Attend to class size in relation to quality instruction.

Citing the importance of potential leading indicators, Dr. Goldberg pointed out that it is critical in identifying quality measures that the importance of quality as process and as input be considered. The following leading indicators were identified: Studentfaculty contact; support services for students; campus environment; and access. In conclusion, Dr. Goldberg emphasized that these measures have to be tied to the strategic objectives set by the UW System and the Board of Regents.

Implementation of the Excess Credit Policy

Dr. Marrett updated the committee on the implementation of the Excess Credit Policy which was approved in December, 2002. Guidelines will be distributed for implementation in Fall 2004.

Report on Remedial Education

VP Goldberg reported that a relatively small number of students admitted to the UW require additional coursework in English and Math which can be attributed to the quality of K-12 education in Wisconsin. Only 6% of new freshman (half of the national average for 4-year institutions) enroll in remedial English courses. And the number of freshman enrolling in remedial math courses is below that of peers across the country.

There has also been a relatively stable and high second-year retention rate for students requiring English and/or Math remediation.

Report on Promotions, Tenure Designations, and Related Academic Approval Items.

The UW System compiles data on tenure designations and new tenured appointments at each institution on a yearly basis.

PK-16 Partnerships and Initiatives

A report on the PK-16 partnerships and initiatives in operation throughout the state was presented by Regent Burmaster. Through PI-34 (Wisconsin Quality Educator Initiative), the following areas for continuing study and discussion include: educating, recruiting, retaining and professionally developing teachers, alternative teacher certification programs, and closing the achievement gap, among other items.

Dr. Francine Tompkins, Director of PK-16 Initiatives in the Office of Academic and Student Services, and Dr. Penny Garcia, Assistant Professor of Education at UW-Oshkosh detailed other partnerships that are ongoing in the areas of shared, institutionwide responsibility for teacher education and grant initiatives.

Regent Mohs presented the following resolutions to the Board of Regents as consent agenda items and the motion was seconded by Regent Axtell.

2003-04 Tenure Designations and New Tenured Appointments

Resolution 8698:	That, upon recommendation of the respective Chancellors and the President of the University of Wisconsin System, the 2003-04 tenure designations and
	new tenured appointments, reported in the attached materials by institution, be approved.

<u>UW-Milwaukee: Center for Charter Schools Contract with the Woodlands</u> <u>School, Inc.</u>

Resolution 8699: That, upon recommendation of the Chancellor of the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee and the President of the University of Wisconsin System, the Board of Regents approves the charter school contract with Woodlands School, Inc. Resolution 8699 was removed from the consent agenda at the request of Regent Salas. Resolution 8698 was adopted unanimously. Resolution 8699 was adopted with Regent Salas voting against it.

In discussion, Regent Olivieri noted several quality accountability indicators such as graduation rates, retention rates, and performance on post-graduate testing. In terms of quality, he emphasized the need to focus on outcome oriented accountability indicators rather than process oriented indicators.

In response to a question on PK-16 reporting, Regent Burmaster replied that there was a high degree of collaboration among the UW System institutions, independent colleges and universities, and the Technical Colleges. She stated that this is an ongoing effort that has shown considerable growth and momentum.

Regent Davis urged the committee to set targets for improvement regarding the issue of climate for faculty, staff and students and its relationship to diversity. She emphasized that this is a critical issue from an attraction and retention standpoint.

REPORT OF THE PHYSICAL PLANNING AND FUNDING COMMITTEE

The report of the Physical Planning and Funding Committee was presented by Regent Gracz, Chair.

Report of the Assistant Vice President

Assistant VP Ives reported that the Building Commission agreed to use a Construction Manager-At-Risk for the \$160 million Interdisciplinary Research Center at UW-Madison. This will help facilitate completing the project on time and within budget.

The Joint Finance Committee approved the Capital Budget as recommended by the Building Commission, but reduced all agency funds for maintenance. They also approved enumeration of \$80M PR Bonding for participation in the cogeneration project at UW-Madison and approved using \$7.5M GPR bonding for the Phoenix Sports Center.

UW-Milwaukee Facilities Planning Director, Claude Schuttey provided an update on opportunities to purchase the Columbia Hospital property. The campus will begin a study to see how it best suits their needs. Bob Greenstreet, Dean of Architecture and Urban Planning reviewed the final proposals regarding the re-development of the Kenilworth building which would provide a combination of retail housing and academic space. The following resolution was passed by the Physical Planning and Funding Committee and presented as a consent agenda item. Regent Gracz moved adoption by the Board of Regents; it was seconded by Regent Randall and passed unanimously.

<u>UW-River Falls: Authority to Increase the Scope and Budget of the Child</u> <u>Care Center Project</u>

Resolution 8700: That, upon the recommendation of the UW-River Falls Chancellor and the President of the University of Wisconsin System, authority be granted to increase the scope and budget of the Child Care Center project by \$476,000 Program Revenue Supported Borrowing for a revised total project cost of \$1,076,000 Program Revenue Supported Borrowing.

- - -

_

REPORT OF THE BUSINESS AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

Regent Olivieri, Chair, presented the report of the Business and Finance Committee.

2003-05 Unclassified Pay Plan Recommendation

Regent Olivieri noted that the following resolution informs the Department of Employment Relations that a recommendation for a pay plan for unclassified staff will be forthcoming before October of this year. A specific number recommendation will not be made at this time due to the uncertainty of the budget. He noted that the resolution reflects significant challenges and concerns in terms of the benefit package and potential contributions employees may be required to make, particularly in the health care plans. The modified resolution requests that faculty and academic staff be represented in any discussion in regard to employee health insurance. The words "*but not limited to*" were added so if other issues related to the health care plan are discussed, faculty and academic staff would have a role in that discussion.

Regent Olivieri made a motion to the Board of Regents to approve the modified Resolution 8701. The motion was seconded by Regent Walsh and it passed unanimously.

2003-05 Unclassified Pay Plan Recommendation (Modified)

Resolution 8701: That upon the recommendation of the UW System President, the Board of Regents directs the UW System President to notify the Department of Employment Relations Secretary that:

> A formal recommendation of the Board of Regents pursuant to s. 230.12(3)(e) Wis. Stats., will be transmitted on or before October 10, 2003;

The Board of Regents asks that the UW System faculty and academic staff be represented in any discussions pertaining to employee health insurance including, but not limited to: changes to the premium contribution structure to a "tiered" approach; establishing criteria for formulating a risk adjustment model to ensure the efficiency of plan providers; changing existing prescription drug benefits and evaluating the prospect of engaging a pharmacy benefits manager; excluding dental benefits from participating plans and creation of a stand alone dental plan; and, converting the standard plans to a preferred provider option.

Regent Olivieri reiterated the difficulty of this situation and requested that a great deal of time and energy be spent on resolving the issue.

Report of the Vice President

Legislative Audit Bureau

Vice President Durcan reported on the review of UW System's auditing processes by the Legislative Audit Bureau.

LAB Administrative Audit Update

The Legislative Audit Bureau is continuing their audit on administrative costs. They are meeting with campus business officers and closely looking at collaborations between the campuses. The following resolutions were presented by Regent Olivieri to the Board of Regents as consent agenda items. They were seconded by Regent Walsh and approved unanimously.

UW-La Crosse: Differential Tuition for Academic Excellence Initiatives

Resolution 8702: That, upon the recommendation of the President of the University of Wisconsin System and the students and Chancellor of the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, the Board of Regents approves the differential tuition rates for all UW-La Crosse students beginning in the Fall Semester of 2003-04.

UW-Superior: Differential Tuition for Library Initiatives

Resolution 8703:	That, upon the recommendation of the President of the University of Wisconsin System and the students and Chancellor of the University of Wisconsin-Superior, the
	Board of Regents approves the differential tuition rates
	for undergraduate students at UW-Superior beginning in the Fall Semester of 2003-04.

Regent Richlen inquired about differential tuition proposals and how they are handled throughout the system. She requested further discussion about what differential tuition should be used for and that it should not be used to fill in areas that have been cut by the budget.

Regent Gottschalk agreed that this should be included in our rethinking of the University System.

Chancellor Hastad introduced Luke Naegele, the incoming president of the UW-La Crosse student body, who then introduced several of his colleagues. They attended the meeting in support of the resolution on differential tuition. Mr. Naegele spoke about their year long project working with student demands for academic excellence initiatives and a policy on differential tuition to support those initiatives.

Regent Walsh remarked on a report presented by Dr. Sally Peck Lundeen, UW-Milwaukee School of Nursing, regarding the extreme shortage of nurses throughout the state. He noted that is an opportunity for the University System and Learning Innovations to provide on-line education at the undergraduate level. However, he noted, there continues to be a real problem with the lack of qualified faculty with masters and Ph.D degrees. Although this is a serious problem, it can provide a wonderful opportunity for our System. In regard to the discussion on health care costs, Regent Rosenzweig inquired about what authority the Regents may have in the decision process. President Lyall stated that the Legislature would have the final say, but felt that unclassified employees should have an opportunity to express their views regarding any changes to health care plans.

- - -

ADDITIONAL RESOLUTIONS

Regent Rosenzweig presented the following resolution, which was adopted by acclamation.

Resolution of Appreciation: UW-Milwaukee

Resolution 8704:	Whereas, the members of the Board of Regents are very pleased to be invited to hold our June 2003 meetings at University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee; and
	Whereas, the meetings have been enriched by informative presentations on the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, the Impact of Scholarships and Financial Aid, the Black and Gold Commission, the School of Nursing on-line PhD program, current campus projects, and the Milwaukee Idea; and
	Whereas, it was a particular pleasure to attend a special reception and performance of the Fine Arts Quartet in the beautiful Helene Zelazo Center for the Performing Arts; and
	Whereas, the warm and gracious hospitality extended by Chancellor Zimpher and the UW-Milwaukee community is very much appreciated;
	Therefore, be it resolved that the Board of Regents hereby thanks the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee for a most interesting and enjoyable visit.

Industrial Relations Research Institute, UW-Madison

Regent Salas prefaced his remarks by noting his personal experience with the institute and his knowledge of its history. As indicated at the board's Madison listening session, UW-Madison proposed to eliminate the institute in its upcoming budget cuts. Stating his opposition to this plan, Regent Salas referred to the principles that were established for making cuts and pointed out that the institute is not a duplicative program. On the contrary, it is unique in Wisconsin and one of the best programs of its kind nationally. Established in 1948, the institute was involved in generating ideas that led to the development of social security, workmen's compensation, unemployment compensation, the minimum wage, and collective bargaining. He felt the institute would continue to be valuable in coping with the need to compete in a global economy, as well as the current economic downturn and attendant unemployment.

For those reasons, he moved adoption of the following resolution.

UW-Madison: Industrial Relations Research Institute Exemption

Resolution:	The Board of Regents directs the University of
	Wisconsin-Madison to exempt the Industrial Relations
	Research Institute from any decrease in state funding
	associated with the base budget reductions imposed by
	the 2003-05 Biennial Budget Act.

Seconding the motion for purposes of discussion, Regent Walsh inquired about the reasons for the decision.

Provost Peter Spear responded, noting that the IRRI is a venerable program that has produced many outstanding graduates in its 50 years of operation. The decision to cut the program was made by Dean Philip Certain, of the College of Letters and Science, after considering extensive input and consultation with the college's Academic Planning Council – an elected faculty and staff committee – which approved the decision. The decision was supported by the provost and the chancellor.

Explaining reasons for the decision, Provost Spear indicated first that the program no longer has faculty support and that the departments of Economics and Sociology, which have been the primary providers of faculty for the program, are no longer willing or able to provide instructional resources and faculty to teach the courses. As a result, 75% of the courses in the program currently are taught by short-term faculty from outside of the college. In addition, it has not been possible to find a director for the program, although two searches and three offers were made over the past five years. Another reason for cutting the program is to save the \$350,000 per year cost of running the institute. Other campus units, such as the LaFollette School of Public Affairs and the School of Business are not willing or able to pick up the cost and house the program at a time when they are making their own budget cuts.

In making the difficult decisions to cut programs, the provost explained, priority is given to those of highest quality, those with the greatest faculty support, and those that serve undergraduates. The IRRI offers only graduate degrees. He emphasized, however, that existing students will be allowed to complete their degrees.

Regent Salas observed that, unlike a department, an institute has no faculty of its own and must depend on other units for instructional resources. While this is a strength in providing interdisciplinary teaching and research, it also causes an institute to be vulnerable to cuts in a time of fiscal crisis, since faculty have primary loyalty to their tenure-home departments, rather than to institutes. With regard to the School of Business, he remarked that the school would have been willing to accept the institute several years ago, if the College of Letters and Science had been willing to provide the requisite faculty positions.

Regent Connolly-Keesler expressed reservations about micromanaging program cuts and telling the university that \$350,000 would have to be cut from some other program.

Regent Axtell asked about the number of students in the program and for what occupations students are trained. In reply, Provost Spear indicated that there are a total of 25-30 graduate students in the masters and Ph.D. programs. They are trained in such areas as labor relations, management, and employment relations.

Regent Walsh stated reluctance to change decisions made through the established shared governance process. He asked Provost Spear for a description of the process that was followed in this case.

Dr. Spear responded that the college's Academic Planning Committee consists of elected faculty from the disciplinary divisions, along with academic staff. The committee advises the dean in such areas as program reviews, improvements, and budget cuts. In the case of the IRRI, it was decided that the institute is not a top priority for the college and that it is one of the areas that should be cut from the budget.

Regent Davis inquired as to whether a decision was made not to have tenured faculty instruct at the IRRI or whether the lack of tenured instructors in the institute happened over time based on lack of faculty interest.

Stating that the latter was true, Provost Spear indicated that he is sensitive to the dependence of institutes on retaining faculty interest. With regard to the IRRI, faculty are no longer working in areas that are central to the institute's mission. Two years ago, he noted, the dean had offered to create two positions and hire faculty working in those areas as an incentive to attract a director, but he still was unable to hire a person to head the institute.

Regent Davis asked if there was a common theme for turning down the three offers that had been made to potential candidates, to which Dr. Spear replied that the offers were not accepted for different reasons.

Regent Rosenzweig expressed reluctance to undercut chancellors by changing decisions they had been asked to make under very difficult circumstances. However, she was sympathetic with the points made by Regent Salas as to the need for the institutes' programs. These types of issues should be considered, she remarked, as the board and others look to the future and the university's role in economic revitalization of the state.

Regent Richlen asked if students were involved in the shared governance process to consider potential cuts.

In response, Dr. Spear indicated that students have not been members of the academic planning committees but, at student request, now were included in the committees' budget cutting deliberations.

While she agreed with Regent Salas about the merits of the IRRI program, Regent Burmaster also concurred with Regent Connolly-Keesler and Regent Rosenzweig that it would be difficult to change individual budget cutting decisions that the chancellor has been asked to make.

Regent Smith pointed out that program creation and elimination is something that the university needs to do in order to stay modern and position itself for the future.

Regent Axtell agreed with Regent Burmaster and others that the board should support the chancellors' decisions rather than making judgments about individual programs.

Regent Amato asked if it would be possible to suspend the program for a year or two and then reassess the situation once the fiscal crisis has passed. In response, Provost Spear indicated that, if a suspension did not mean admitting new students, it would be possible to do that. However, if new students were admitted during that time, the financial commitment would need to continue for the duration of their programs. He was not optimistic that funding for the program would be available in the near future.

The question was put on the resolution and it was defeated on a roll-call vote, with Regent Salas voting for it, Regents Amato, Axtell, Bradley, Burmaster, Connolly-Keesler, Davis, Gracz, Marcovich, Mohs, Randall, Rosenzweig, Smith, Walsh and Gottschalk voting against it, and Regent Richlen abstaining.

Regent President Gottschalk observed that the discussion was valuable and illustrated the difficult choices entrusted to the chancellors.

Regent Bradley concurred, noting that this case provides a lesson about what happens when state support for higher education is decreased and about the very difficult time the university is facing. He did not believe that any regent would want his or her vote to be interpreted as being against the IRRI program, instead, the board voted in support of the chancellor's decision.

- - -

ELECTION OF OFFICERS OF THE BOARD OF REGENTS

President

Regent Gottschalk was nominated for re-election as President of the Board by Regent Mohs.

Regent Marcovich was nominated by Regent Amato.

Regent President Gottschalk made the following statement:

"When I was appointed to be a regent by Governor Thompson, I felt beholden to him because by that appointment he had accorded me one of the greatest honors of my life – one that was eclipsed only when this board elected me as its president a year ago. I would like to continue to serve in that capacity for another term.

"Regent Marcovich would like to be Regent President, and his friend Governor Jim Doyle would like to help him do so. Many of you, in turn, feel beholden to Governor Doyle. I understand all of that, and if we are to elect Toby as Regent President in the next few minutes, I will hold no hard feelings or ill will toward anyone.

"Very shortly after I began my term, there was an issue that came before the board. The Governor had made his wishes known, and I thought to myself: 'Tommy, this one's for you'. But I resolved that thereafter I would vote my own conscience on every issue to come before the board on the sole basis of what I thought best for the university and the state.

"Tommy used to lament, with some humor, that once his appointed regents got to the top of Van Hise they 'went native', or became indigenous to the university culture. And that is what I urge that all of us do.

"If you feel beholden to vote for Toby then so be it, but from then on, resolve in your heart of hearts to be your own man or your own woman and put the best interests of the university and Wisconsin ahead of all other considerations – political or otherwise. I allow myself no other choice.

"Therefore, and because I will not be a party to splitting this board along partisan lines, I withdraw my nomination for re-election."

Regent Marcovich was elected unanimously.

Regent Marcovich thanked the regents for their support and confidence, noting that he had been elected vice president last year when he was the only Democrat on the board. On behalf of the regents, he expressed appreciation to Regent Gottschalk for steering the university with a steady hand through very troubled waters and indicated that he would rely on his good counsel and assistance throughout the coming year.

In another matter, he asked the board members inform him of their preferences for committee memberships.

Regent Smith also expressed appreciation for Regent Gottschalk's service as president, remarking that he had shown excellent leadership and had done so with great energy. Speaking as a past president of the board, Regent Smith observed that many do not understand the vast amount of time and energy required by that office. He commended Regent Gottschalk for meeting those demands willingly and well and for protecting the university through a very difficult time.

Vice President

Regent Walsh was nominated for the office of vice president by Regent Smith. There were no further nominations, and Regent Walsh was elected unanimously.

Secretary, Assistant Secretary, Trust Officer, Assistant Trust Officers

Regent Randall nominated the following officers for re-election: Judith Temby, secretary; Cheryle Goplin, assistant secretary; Deborah Durcan, trust officer; Pat Brady, assistant trust officer; and Doug Hoerr, assistant trust officer. There being no further nominations, the incumbents were re-elected unanimously.

- - -

CLOSED SESSION

The meeting was recessed at 12:30 p.m. and reconvened at 12:45 p.m., at which time the following resolution, moved by Regent Marcovich and seconded by Regent Randall, was adopted unanimously on a roll-call vote, with Regents Amato, Axtell, Bradley, Burmaster, Connolly-Keesler, Davis, Gracz, Marcovich, Mohs, Olivieri, Randall, Richlen, Rosenzweig, Salas, Smith, Walsh, and Gottschalk (17) voting in the affirmative.

Resolution 8705:	That, the Board of Regents recess into Closed Session, to consider annual evaluations, as permitted by
	s.19.85(1)(c), <i>Wis. Stats.</i> , to consider a request for board review of a UW-Extension decision, as permitted by s.19.85(1)(c)(f), <i>Wis. Stats.</i> , and to confer with Legal Counsel, as permitted by s.19.85(1)(g), <i>Wis. Stats.</i>

The board arose from closed session at 2:00 p.m., having adopted the following resolution:

Request for Review of UW-Extension Decision

Resolution 8706: That the Board of Regents adopts the attached decision and order in the matter of a request for review of a UW-Extension decision. The meeting was adjourned at 2:00 p.m.

Judith A. Temby, Secretary

Minutes of the Board of Regents Meeting, June 6, 2003